2004

Gerald R. Homeyer v. Elder Care Consult, Inc., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction of the Utah Court of Appeals in this matter is proper pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Question presented: Did the trial court deprive Gerald Homeyer of the due process of law, by summoning him to appear at an order to show cause hearing concerning why he should not be held in contempt of court for disobeying the court's prior order, but then going beyond the issue of contempt, and holding an evidentiary and adversarial hearing on the merits, when Mr. Homeyer demonstrated that he was not there and then prepared for such, when he appeared pro se and opposite an attorney whom he had previously hired, when he was immediately sentenced to 30 days in jail for contempt, when he was not named as a defendant in the proceeding, and when the order to show cause gave him no notice that such a trial would take place? (R: 51-53, 54-56, 57-61, 66-68, 70-71, 72, 73-80, 81-83). (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 hearing at pp. 3, 8, 11-12, 23, 48-49, 51).

Standard of review: Constitutional issues, including that of due process, are questions of law which the Court of Appeals reviews for correctness. *See State in Interest of K.M.*, 965 P. 2d 576, 578 (Utah App. 1998); *see also State v. Holland*, 921 P. 2d 430, 433 (Utah 1996).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Const. U.S., Amd. V. No person shall be . . . deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.

Const. U.S., Amd. XIV. No state . . . shall deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.

Const. Utah, Art. I, § 7. No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without

due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about October 4, 2002, Christus St. Joseph's Villa filed a law suit against Margaret Canatella for non payment of her nursing home bills. Case No. 020910515. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 2 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 4).

The court appointed Ms. Canatella's son, Gerald Homeyer, as her guardian ad litem for the purposes of that litigation. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at pp. 2-3 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 5).

On or about September 15, 2003, Michael Jensen filed a notice of appearance of counsel for Mr. Homeyer. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 5).

On or about December 8, 2003, the court entered a default judgment in favor of St. Joseph's and against Ms. Canatella in the amount of approximately \$91,315.85. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 3 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 5). On the same day, Mr. Jensen filed a notice of withdrawal of counsel.

On or about March 16, 2004, the court terminated Mr. Homeyer as Ms. Canatella's guardian ad litem.

On or about January 7, 2004, Elder Care Consult Inc., represented by Mr. Jensen, filed a probate complaint, (Case No. 043900019), and a petition for a court order to determine that Ms. Canatella is an incapacitated person and for an order to appoint Elder Care Consult Inc. as guardian and Stagg & Associates as conservator of said protected person. (R: 1-3). (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 2).

A first hearing on the petition was held on January 28, 2004, (R: 17), and a second hearing

was held on April 15, 2004. (R: 33).

At the April 15 hearing the court granted the petition and appointed one Dr. Brent Wright of Elder Care Consult Inc. as Ms. Canatella's guardian and Stagg & Associates as her conservator. (R: 34-36). (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 6,18).

On or about May 13, 2004, the conservator, via Mr. Jensen, filed a motion for an order requiring an accounting and turnover of funds. (R: 41-44). (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 5).

On or about June 9, 2004, the court signed the order requiring an accounting and turnover of funds. (R: 51-53).

On or about July 7, 2004, Mr. Homeyer was served with the order requiring an accounting and turnover of funds. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 6).

On or about July 21, 2004, because Mr. Homeyer failed to respond to the order, the petitioner filed a verified motion for an order to show cause. (R: 57-61).

On or about July 21, 2004, the court granted the motion and signed the order. (R: 57-61).

On or about July 29, 2004, a constable served the order on Mr. Homeyer, and proof thereof was filed with the court on or about August 6, 2004. (R: 66-68).

On or about August 11, 2004, the court held a hearing on the order to show cause. Mr. Homeyer was present. (R: 70-71). (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 3).

At the August 11 hearing, various exhibits were admitted into evidence. (R: 72). The court found Mr. Homeyer to be in contempt of court and sentenced him to thirty days in jail. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 51).

On or about September 23, 2004, the court entered its finding of fact and conclusions of

law, (R: 73-80), and entered a judgment against Mr. Homeyer and in favor of Ms. Canatella's conservator in the amount of \$116,181.26. (R: 81-83).

On or about October 6, 2004, the conservator filed a motion, and memorandum in support thereof, for an order requiring Mr. Homeyer to convey his real property to Ms. Canatella's ward. (R: 86-88).

On or about October 22, 2004, Mr. Homeyer filed a notice of appeal. (R: 102-103).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime in 2002 Gerald Homeyer (hereinafter "Mr. Homeyer") brought his elderly mother, Margaret Canatella (hereinafter "Ms. Canatella), from New York to Utah. He placed her in an assisted care facility, "Regency Assisted Living Facility," where she had her own apartment. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 11 and Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 13). Mr. Homeyer managed his mother's finances using a power of attorney. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 48).

Soon thereafter Ms. Canatella fell and broke her hip, so Mr. Homeyer placed her in Christus St. Joseph's Villa for rehabilitative treatment. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at pp. 11-12).

At some point a dispute arose between Mr. Homeyer and St. Joseph's regarding his mother's treatment. According to Mr. Homeyer, St. Joseph's were not providing his mother with the proper treatment they had contracted to provide. (See Transcript of January 18, 2004 at pp. 4-5, Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 12-13, and Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 28). St. Joseph's wanted to give Ms. Canatella a "radical mastectomy," but when Mr. Homeyer contacted a physician at Cottonwood Hospital the physician told him that under no circumstances should a

woman of Ms. Canatella's age undergo such a procedure. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 15). Because of these disputes Mr. Homeyer ceased paying St. Joseph's for his mother's nursing and medical bills. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at pp. 4-5 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 13).

As a result, on October 4, 2002, St. Joseph's filed a lawsuit against Ms. Canatella in order to recover their fees (Case No. 020910515). The court appointed Mr. Homeyer as his mother's guardian ad litem for the purposes of that litigation. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at pp. 2-3 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 5-6).

Sometime in September of 2003, Mr. Homeyer hired an attorney, one Michael Jensen. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 5 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 3,5). On September 15, 2003, Mr. Jensen filed a notice of appearance of counsel for Mr. Homeyer. On the same day, St. Joseph's filed a motion for an order of judgment by default.

A hearing on the motion was held on November 10, 2003, and on December 8, 2003, the court entered a default judgment in favor of St. Joseph's and against Ms. Canatella in the amount of approximately \$91,315.85. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 3 and Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 5). On the same day, Mr. Jensen filed a notice of withdrawal of counsel.

The court also ordered Mr. Homeyer to find an alternative facility for Ms. Canatella. According to Mr. Homeyer he had tried to, but to no avail. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 6,14).

Soon thereafter St. Joseph's, desperate to collect their fees, went to the office of the public guardian, and the office in turn contacted Mr. Jensen's clients, Dr. Brent Wright of Elder Care Consult Inc. and Stagg & Associates, to see if they could serve as Ms. Canatella's guardian and

conservator respectively. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 6). Thus, on January 7, 2004, Mr. Jensen filed a petition for a court order to determine that Ms. Canatella is an incapacitated person and for an order to appoint Elder Care Consult Inc. as guardian and Stagg & Associates as conservator. (R: 1-3). (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 2).

A first hearing on the petition was held on January 28, 2004. (R: 17). At that hearing Mr. Homeyer represented that he had refused to pay St. Joseph's because they were not providing his mother with the proper rehabilitative treatment they had contracted to provide. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at pp. 4-5). Further, Mr. Homeyer informed the court that, "Mr. Jensen was my attorney for that matter which I think is a conflict of interest in his part." (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 5). The court postponed deciding the issue due to Mr. Homeyer's objections. (See Transcript of January 28, 2004 at p. 3-4, 6).

A second hearing was held on April 15, 2004. (R: 33). St. Joseph's, via their attorney, Lawrence Dingivan, was also present. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 2). Mr. Homeyer reiterated his concern about Mr. Jensen stating that "Mr. Jensen was hired by me, paid over \$3,000. I consider this . . . a conflict of interest." (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 3). Mr. Homeyer seemed to be under the impression that Mr. Jensen was working for the nursing home, St. Joseph's. The court then informed Mr. Homeyer that Mr. Dingivan represented St. Joseph's, but Mr. Homeyer still reiterated his impression that he felt St. Joseph's was working behind the scenes to collect their judgment via Mr. Jensen. Apparently, the court stated that it understood Mr. Homeyer's position. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 3-4). Later, Mr. Dingivan represented that he and Mr. Jensen represented independent clients with interests which may overlap. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 9). Also present at the hearing was one Tom

Christensen, acting as attorney for Ms. Canatella. He represented that Ms. Canatella was a “very delightful old lady” and that she was doing well (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 10, 14). Mr. Jensen then represented to the court that Mr. Dingivan had told him that it looked like Ms. Canatella’s bank accounts were empty. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at pp. 6-7). The court then granted the petition and appointed Elder Care as guardian and Stagg & Associates as conservator. (See Transcript of April 15, 2004 at p. 18). (R: 34-36).

A short time after the April 15 hearing Mr. Jensen contacted Mr. Dingivan concerning the bank accounts. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 4). Mr. Jensen discovered that a large withdrawal had been made, and on May 13, 2004, filed a motion for an order requiring both an accounting and a turnover of funds from Mr. Homeyer. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 5). (R: 41-44). On June 9, 2004 the court granted the order, (R: 51-53), and it was served on Mr. Homeyer on or about July 7. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 6). The order required Mr. Homeyer to give an accounting of his mother’s funds for the period April 1, 2002, through April 30, 2004, and to do so no later than June 15, 2004. It also ordered Mr. Homeyer to turn over to the conservator all of the funds in his possession and under his control that belonged to his mother, and to do so within five days of service of the order. (R: 51-53, 54-56).

According to Mr. Homeyer, when he was served with the order on July 7 he noticed that the deadline for responding, at least with regards to the accounting, i.e., June 15, had already passed. Mr. Homeyer then gave the order back to the constable who threw it to the ground. According to Mr. Homeyer, the paper fell into a wet gutter where it stayed. ((See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 47).

On July 21, 2004. Mr. Jensen filed a motion for an order to show cause which the court

granted on the same day. (R: 57-61). It was served on Mr. Homeyer on July 29. (R: 66-68).

The order states in part:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Gerald Homeyer appear before this Court . . . to show why he should not be held in contempt of this Court's Order served on him by constable on July 7, 2004, because of his failure to provide an accounting of his mother's funds for the period April 1, 2002 through April 30, 2004, and for his failure to turn over all of his mother's funds in his possession or under his control.

(R: 66-68).

Mr. Homeyer obeyed the order and appeared at his contempt hearing on August 11, 2004. (R: 70-71). The court commenced by announcing that the August 11 hearing was an order to show cause hearing. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 3).

At the hearing Mr. Jensen presented various exhibits 'against' Mr. Homeyer in order to demonstrate that Mr. Homeyer, using the power of attorney, had taken money out of his mother's bank accounts to make a down payment on a new home in Riverton. (R: 72). (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 hearing at pp. 8, 23). Mr. Homeyer admitted to this, but stated that his mother had consented to him using the money in this way and that she was lucid when she said this, and that she had even made the initial suggestion. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 hearing at pp. 34-35, 41-42, 48-49). When asked for proof, Mr. Homeyer asserted that he did not have any physical proof, but that it was based on a various "conversations" he had with her. Apparently, Mr. Homeyer had lost his home in a divorce and it was Ms. Canatella's desire that he use her money to buy himself a home. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 35).

As far as the accounting was concerned, the court told Mr. Homeyer that he was responsible for giving an accounting and that it would sign an order to that effect. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 10). Mr. Homeyer also informed the court that at some point

in the past, presumably during the initial litigation by St. Joseph's when he had hired Mr. Jensen, that "counsel" had advised him that he was not required to give an accounting. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 11). Then the court asked him what he would be "able to do in the future." Mr. Homeyer responded that he "would try to get – but none of those records are available to me." (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 11). The court also asked him whether he was aware that he "could go to jail today?" (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 12).

At various stages of the August 11 proceeding, when questioned about records and accounting Mr. Homeyer responded that he had not come to the hearing prepared to answer such questions or with documents at the ready. For example, "I have no way to provide you with that kind of information. I don't have that information with me," (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 12), "I had no idea what records they might need but I can provide them to the Court," (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 48), and "I did not bring anything with me. I didn't know what the attorney would be –," (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 49). According to Mr. Homeyer, he had come on the order to show cause and the "cause" for which he had not provided an accounting was because of the prior advice of counsel, and because the date on the order had expired by the time it was served on him. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 11, 42, 47). Although Mr. Homeyer admitted that he had destroyed some records based on the advice of counsel, he did state that he was willing to now obey the court's order and bring what he could. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 11). Further, he also stated that he had expended other funds on his mother's behalf and that he had or could get records related to those. (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at pp. 37-38).

At the conclusion of the hearing the court found that Mr. Homeyer was in contempt for

failing to obey the court's prior order and sentenced him to serve "30 days in jail forthwith." (See Transcript of August 11, 2004 at p. 51). The court also ordered Mr. Homeyer to provide an accounting and open all mail sent to him from Mr. Jensen. The court entered judgment against Mr. Homeyer in the amount of \$116,181.26, but stated that Mr. Homeyer could offset from the judgment all payments he used for the benefit of his mother, if supported by documents submitted to the conservator no later than September 15, 2004. (R: 81-83).

The court entered its order and judgment on September 23, 2004, (R: 81-83), and on October 22, 2004, Mr. Homeyer filed a notice of appeal. (R: 104).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court violated Mr. Homeyer's constitutional rights by depriving him of his property without due process of law guaranteed under the federal and state constitutions. Const. U.S., Amd. V., Const. U.S., Amd. XIV, and Const. Utah, Art. I, § 7.

The court served Mr. Homeyer with an order to show cause why he should not be held in contempt of court for failing to obey the court's prior order which required him to give an accounting of his mother's, Ms. Canatella's, funds. The order to show cause was served on Mr. Homeyer on July 29, 2004, and a hearing was held 13 days later on August 11, 2004. The court itself identified the hearing as an order to show cause hearing. Mr. Homeyer explained his reasons for failing to obey the court's prior order, including the prior advice of counsel, the fact that the deadline for compliance had expired by three weeks by the time he had been served with the prior order, and the fact that he had given the order back to the constable who subsequently threw the order on the ground.

Nevertheless, the court found Mr. Homeyer in contempt and sentenced him to 30 days in

jail. However, at the same time the court held an evidentiary hearing on the particular issue concerning the whereabouts of and accounting for Ms. Canatella's funds. The order never specifically mentioned this. Evidence was presented against Mr. Homeyer by an attorney who Mr. Homeyer had previously retained to represent his mother in an earlier case. Mr. Homeyer was clearly unprepared for the trial. At times the court indicated that it would require some future accounting, but then came to a decision and found Mr. Homeyer liable for converting his mother's funds over his objection that she had gifted the funds to him in order to buy a home and that he was not prepared. Although the court did give Mr. Homeyer until September 15 to prepare and file documents in order to offset the judgment, it then immediately sentenced him to 30 days in jail to be served forthwith and without any opportunity to take care of his affairs.

The order did not give Mr. Homeyer timely and adequate notice concerning the exact nature of the August 11 hearing. *See Nelson v. Jacobsen*, 669 P. 2d 1207, 1211 (Utah 1983); see also *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S. Ct. 652, 657, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950). The order was not adequate because, other than the contempt issue, it did not mention that there would be a trial on the "particular" and "specific" issue of the whereabouts of and accounting for Ms. Canatella's funds. (R: 66-68). *See Nelson*, 669 P. 2d at 1212-1213; see also *State in Interest of K.M.*, 965 P. 2d 576, 579 (Utah App. 1998). Further, 13 days is not sufficient time for an unrepresented layperson to prepare for a trial in which he could be held civilly liable for more than \$100,000. *See Nelson*, 669 P. 2d at 1213-1214. Also, the courts have noted that a contempt action is separate from the principal action. *See Burgers v. Maiben*, 652 P. 2d 1320, 1322 (Utah 1982).

Further, it was procedurally unfair to give Mr. Homeyer what seemed like adequate time

i.e., until September 15, to prepare and submit documents in order to offset his judgment, but simultaneously sentence him to 30 days in jail to be served forthwith and without any opportunity to take care of his affairs, medical or otherwise.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED GERALD HOMEYER OF THE DUE PROCESS OF LAW BY SUMMONING HIM TO APPEAR AT AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE HEARING CONCERNING WHY HE SHOULD NOT BE HELD IN CONTEMPT OF COURT FOR DISOBEYING THE COURT'S PRIOR ORDER BUT THEN GOING BEYOND THE ISSUE OF CONTEMPT AND HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY AND ADVERSARIAL HEARING ON THE MERITS WHEN MR. HOMEYER DEMONSTRATED THAT HE WAS NOT THERE AND THEN PREPARED FOR SUCH, WHEN HE APPEARED PRO SE AND OPPOSITE AN ATTORNEY WHOM HE HAD PREVIOUSLY HIRED, WHEN HE WAS IMMEDIATELY SENTENCED TO 30 DAYS IN JAIL FOR CONTEMPT, WHEN HE WAS NOT NAMED AS A DEFENDANT IN THE PROCEEDING, AND WHEN THE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE GAVE HIM NO NOTICE THAT SUCH A TRIAL WOULD TAKE PLACE.**

“Timely and **adequate** notice and an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way are the very heart of procedural fairness.” Emphasis Added. *See Nelson v. Jacobsen*, 669 P. 2d 1207, 1211 (Utah 1983); *see also Worrall v. Ogden City Fire Dept.*, 616 P. 2d 598, 601-02 (Utah 1980); *Goss v. Lopez*, 419 U.S. 565, 579, 95 S. Ct. 729, 738, 42 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1975).

In *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S. Ct. 652, 657, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950) the United States' Supreme Court held that:

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