2004

Gerald R. Homeyer v. Stagg & Associates, conservator for Margaret Cannatella : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Homeyer's appeal should be rejected. He failed to properly preserve his due process issue in the district court despite ample opportunities to do so. Never once, even after retaining legal counsel, did he present his due process concerns to the district court. Under these circumstances, it is well established that he cannot raise that issue for the first time on appeal. At any rate, the hearing on the order to show cause did not violate Mr. Homeyer's due process rights. He received timely and adequate notice of the date, time, place, and subject matter of the order to show cause hearing. At the hearing itself, the district court properly conducted an inquiry into those factual issues that were necessary to determine (1) whether Mr. Homeyer was in contempt of the court's order to account for and turn over his mother's funds, and (2) if so, how severe his sanction should be. The undisputed evidence and Mr. Homeyer's own admissions clearly and convincingly established not only that he had failed to provide the mandated accounting, but that he had also taken his mother's funds for his own purposes and then refused to return them as the court had ordered. The court's findings on these issues in no way violated Mr. Homeyer's due process rights, and nothing would be served by a remand to the district court.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Homeyer's Due Process Arguments Were Not Properly Preserved and Thus May Not Be Considered on Appeal.

Mr. Homeyer has raised a single issue on appeal – whether “the trial court deprive[ed] [him] of due process of law” when, on August 11, 2004, it allegedly “[held] an evidentiary and adversarial hearing on the merits” rather than confining itself to the contempt issue. Brf. Applt. at 1. However, Mr. Homeyer failed to raise this issue in the district court, both at the August 11 hearing and subsequently. Because Mr. Homeyer did not properly preserve the due process issue in the trial court, and because the “plain error” exception to the preservation rule does not apply in this case, this Court should hold that the issue is waived and dismiss the appeal.

A. Absent Plain Error or Exceptional Circumstances, Failure to Raise an Issue in the Trial Court Waives that Issue for Purposes of Appeal.

It is a basic rule of appellate practice that “appellate courts will not consider an issue, including a constitutional argument, raised for the first time on appeal unless the trial court committed plain error or the case involves exceptional circumstances.”

Groberg v. Housing Opportunities, Inc., 2003 UT App 67, ¶ 11, 68 P.3d 1015 (quoting State v. Brown, 856 P.2d 358, 359 (Utah App. 1993)).¹¹

This Court recently summarized how an issue may be properly preserved for appeal and the policy reasons for requiring preservation in the trial court:

¹¹ See also Espinal v. City Board of Education, 797 P.2d 412, 413 (Utah 1990) (“With limited exceptions, the practice of this court has been to decline consideration of issues raised for the first time on appeal.”); US Xpress, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 886 P.2d 1115, 119 (Utah App. 1994) (“It is well settled that, absent extraordinary circumstances or plain error, issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”); Progressive Acquisition, Inc. v. Lytle, 806 P.2d 239, 242 (Utah App. 1991) (“axiomatic” that claims not before trial court may not be advanced for first time on appeal).

In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it “must be raised in a timely fashion, must be specifically raised such that the issue is sufficiently raised to a level of consciousness before the trial court, and must be supported by evidence or relevant legal authority.” State v. Schultz, 2002 UT App 366, ¶ 19, 58 P.3d 879 (quotations and citations omitted). “The trial court is considered ‘the proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis’ of issues.” Brown, 856 P.2d at 360 (citation omitted). The preservation rule allows “the trial court an opportunity to ‘address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it.’” State v. Cram, 2002 UT 37, ¶ 10, 46 P.3d 230 (quoting State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346). Additionally, “[f]ailing to argue an issue and present pertinent evidence in that forum denies the trial court ‘the opportunity to make any findings of fact or conclusions of law’ pertinent to the claimed error.” Brown, 856 P.2d at 360 (citation omitted).

State v. Richins, 2004 UT App 36, ¶ 8, 86 P.3d 759 (emphasis added); State v. Steggell, 660 P.2d 252, 254 (Utah 1983) (to preserve a procedural issue for appeal, a party must raise a “timely and proper objection . . . in the trial court”).

Failure to properly preserve an issue for appeal almost always results in waiver. In State v. Brown, 853 P.2d 851, 853-54 (Utah 1992), the Utah Supreme Court held that issues raised for the first time on appeal may be addressed only if the trial court proceedings demonstrated “plain error.” See also US Express, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 886 P.2d 1115, 1119 (Utah App. 1994) (“It is well established that, absent extraordinary circumstances or plain error, issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”). The plain error standard is very difficult to satisfy.

Plain error will be found only if the appellate court determines that (1) the error “should have been obvious to a trial court ... [; and (2)] the error must be harmful in that it affects the substantial rights of the accused.” [Citing State v. Brown, 853 P.2d 851 (Utah 1992).] The plain error exception acts as “a safety device to make certain that manifest injustice does not result from the failure to consider an issue on appeal.” State v. Archambeau, 820 P.2d 920, 923 (Utah App. 1991).

Brown, 856 P.2d at 363 (emphasis added). As this Court noted in Davis v. Grand County Service Area, 905 P.2d 888, 892 n.8 (Utah App. 1995), the plain error standard is even “more rigorous than the abuse-of-discretion standard”. Not surprisingly, cases where this Court has found plain error as an exception to waiver have been rare. Typically, Utah appellate courts hold that failure to preserve an issue in the trial court precludes consideration on appeal. See, e.g., Burgers v. Maiben, 652 P.2d 1320, 1323 (Utah 1982) (The Utah Supreme Court “has repeatedly stated that an issue which has not been raised in the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal.”).

These preservation standards apply even when someone, like Mr. Homeyer, chooses to represent himself in the trial court. “As a general rule, a party who represents himself will be held to the same standard of knowledge and practice as any qualified member of the bar.”¹² Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207, 1213 (Utah 1983) (citations omitted). See also Wurst v. Dept. of Employment Security, 818 P.2d 1036, 1213 n.3 (Utah App. 1991) (same). The fact that Mr. Homeyer chose to appear *pro se* at the contempt hearing and elected not to retain legal counsel until after the district court had entered judgment does not entitle him to any special indulgences on the preservation question. As the Oregon Court of Appeals succinctly put it, “*pro se* litigants are bound

¹² To be sure, “a layperson acting as his or her own attorney ‘should be accorded every consideration that may reasonably be indulged’” in the trial court. Wurst, 818 P.2d at 1213 n.3 (quoting Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1213). But that does not mean that the trial court is required to help the *pro se* party prosecute his case or preserve his defenses. The Utah Supreme Court stated in Nelson that “[r]easonable consideration for a layman acting as his own attorney does not require the court to interrupt the course of proceedings to translate legal terms, explain legal rules, or otherwise attempt to redress the ongoing consequences of the party’s decision to function in a capacity for which he is not trained.” Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1213.

by the same preservation rules that bind all other parties.” State v. Morrow, 86 P.3d 70 (Or. App. 2004) (finding waiver). Hence, in a case analogous to this one, the Utah Supreme Court in Burgers v. Maiben, 652 P.2d 1320, 1323 (Utah 1982), held that it would not consider a *pro se* party’s due process challenge to a contempt ruling where the party had failed to raise the issue (“a request to confront a witness”) “at the order to show cause hearing” in the trial court.

B. Mr. Homeyer Did Not Preserve the Due Process Issue in the District Court.

Mr. Homeyer complains that the district court denied him due process at the August 11 contempt hearing. But never once at that hearing, or even after, did he make a due process objection to any part of the proceeding or to the sufficiency of the notice. Although not challenged on appeal, the same is true of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Order and Judgment. That is, Mr. Homeyer did not present the due process issue (by name or otherwise) to the district court in any specific way.

To be sure, after the judgment had been entered, Mr. Homeyer retained legal counsel who filed several documents, including a Rule 60(b) motion, that expressly raised due process concerns. Hence, there is no question Mr. Homeyer became fully aware of the due process issue while there was still time to present it to the district court. Indeed, that appeared to be a principal purpose of his post-judgment filings, especially his Rule 60(b) motion. See R. 121-58. But Mr. Homeyer chose to withdraw his motion and objections before the Conservator could respond and before the district court could consider the issue and correct whatever error it allegedly made.

In short, Mr. Homeyer's due process arguments were never presented for consideration to the district court and thus he has waived his right to appellate review of that issue. Again, Mr. Homeyer is not entitled to any special concessions or to a more lenient standard because he chose not to retain an attorney until late in the case; and particularly not when, after retaining legal counsel, he intentionally withdrew the due process issue from the district court's consideration after initiating efforts to raise it. Cf. Burgers, 652 P.2d at 1322-23 (pro se party's belated due process objection to contempt proceeding not presented to the district court and thus waived on appeal).

Not only did Mr. Homeyer not make a formal due process objection, he never even complained about the August 11 hearing or the hearing notice until this appeal. In his opening brief, Mr. Homeyer maintains that at the hearing he told the court he had not come prepared with financial documents or to answer questions about finances (Brf. Applt. at 9 & 17), as if that alone were enough to preserve a due process issue for appeal. They are not.

But even granting a generous construction, such statements are irrelevant to the preservation issue here. The issue Mr. Homeyer seeks to raise on appeal is whether the district court exceeded the proper scope of the August 11 contempt hearing by allegedly "holding an evidentiary and adversarial hearing on the merits," *i.e.*, on whether Mr. Homeyer had illicitly taken his mother's money, rather than just addressing the narrow issue of contempt. Brf. Applt. at 1. But not once at the August 11 hearing did Mr. Homeyer make the slightest objection to the scope of the hearing or the court's substantive inquiry into how much money he had taken from his mother and whether that

was proper. Nor did he claim at the hearing to have any information or documents at home (or elsewhere) to dispute the Conservator's hard evidence, which mostly consisted of checks bearing his own signature. In fact, just the opposite is true: Mr. Homeyer denied having any financial documents to use in preparing an accounting because (as he testified) he had destroyed them months earlier and couldn't obtain them otherwise from other institutions. R. 187 at 12, 13; 77. More fundamentally, at the hearing he frankly admitted taking funds from his mother for his own use, something he also concedes on appeal. R. 187 at 33-35; Brf. Applt. at 8.

Even on the issue of whether Ms. Cannatella wanted him to have the money – his sole justification for taking it – Mr. Homeyer testified that the only evidence of that intent consisted of conversations she had with him in which she allegedly expressed that desire; he denied there was any documentary evidence. R. 187 at 35. He never so much as hinted, for instance, that if only he had been given proper notice of the scope of the hearing he would have been able to produce witnesses to corroborate his story, or even that there was anyone else who might know of his mother's alleged desires. Mr. Homeyer gave his testimony regarding his mother's alleged intent without once suggesting that he had been caught by surprise or was being denied a fair proceeding or needed additional time to prepare.

As stated earlier, to properly preserve an issue for appeal it “must be raised in a timely fashion, must be specifically raised such that the issue is sufficiently raised to a level of consciousness before the trial court, and must be supported by evidence or relevant legal authority.” Schultz, 2002 UT App, ¶ 19. Like the *pro se* defendant in

Burgers, 652 P.2d 1320, Mr. Homeyer did not comply with any of these requirements. The district court was never made aware of potential due process concerns nor allowed the opportunity to address them. Accordingly, Mr. Homeyer waived the due process issue.

C. This Appeal Does Not Present an Issue of Plain Error.

The plain error exception to waiver does not apply in this case. To paraphrase this Court in Brown, no “manifest injustice [will] result from the failure to consider [Mr. Homeyer’s due process] issue on appeal.” Brown, 856 P.2d at 363. The bottom line is that Mr. Homeyer admits to using a power of attorney to take his incapacitated mother’s money for his own purposes, which undisputedly left her unable to pay for her essential care. Requiring him to return money he wrongfully took from his mother, and to which he had no right in the first place, works no injustice. As the next section demonstrates, even assuming *arguendo* a due process error occurred in the August 11 hearing, the error was neither obvious to the district court nor did it abridge Mr. Homeyer’s substantial rights. See id. Mr. Homeyer cannot satisfy the stringent criteria for plain error.

Mr. Homeyer waived the due process issue and the plain error rule does not apply. This Court should decline to consider the issue presented on appeal.

II. In Any Event, Mr. Homeyer’s Due Process Rights Were Not Violated at the August 11 Hearing.

Mr. Homeyer’s request for relief neatly illustrates why his due process challenge is without substance. In his Conclusion, Mr. Homeyer requests that this Court “reverse the decision of the trial court and remand the matter back to the trial court to allow [him]

to first prepare, and then and there present evidence concerning the whereabouts of Ms. Cannatella's funds." Brf. Applt. at 20. But the "whereabouts of Ms. Cannatella's funds" is undisputed: at the August 11 hearing, Mr. Homeyer frankly admitted to taking the funds and using them for his own ends, including purchasing a new house. R. 187 at 33-35. That fact remains undisputed on appeal. Brf. Applt. at 8 ("Mr. Homeyer admitted to this [i.e., that he "had taken money out of his mother's bank accounts to make a down payment on a new home in Riverton]"). Thus, Mr. Homeyer seeks a remand so he can conduct a factual inquiry into undisputed facts that have already been conclusively established. This makes no sense at all. The heart of due process is fairness. It was hardly unfair for the district court to take evidence establishing what Mr. Homeyer himself frankly admits.

In short, it was not a denial of due process when, at the August 11 hearing, the district court allowed the Conservator to present irrefutable evidence that Mr. Homeyer had flagrantly violated the court's order by doing nothing to provide an accounting of his mother's finances and by refusing to return over \$100,000 of her money. While all court orders must be obeyed, it is surely appropriate in a contempt hearing to establish the nature, magnitude and impact of the disobedience so that the penalty can fit the "crime." The evidence presented at the August 11 hearing did just that and thus was highly relevant to the core contempt issue. Mr. Homeyer was not denied due process.

Before addressing Mr. Homeyer's due process arguments, it is important to clarify what is not at issue in this appeal. Most importantly, Mr. Homeyer has not appealed the correctness of the district court's contempt sanction and has not challenged in his briefing

the correctness of the final order and judgment. Nor is he appealing the district court's refusal to disqualify Mr. Jensen from representing the Conservator.

A. Fairness Is the Heart of Procedural Due Process.

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